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University City with volcanoes in the
background.

exico’s University City (CU)
was inaugurated forty years
ago, in November 1952.

Some historical determinism may be
said to have played a part in its
location. The foundations of the
newest “City of Learning” were laid
on the site where the continent’s most
ancient civilization had flourished, in
the incomparable landscape of the
Pedregal de San Angel where the
remains of “Pedregal Man” were
found under rivers of petrified lava.

The University City campus was
built on a 7,300,000 square meter tract
in the southern part of Mexico’s
capital. Its axis coincides exactly with
the continent’s, the Pan-American
Highway, and its center is the frontier
between two races and two cultures, a
crossroad and synthesis of peoples.

The uniqueness of the landscape,
its wide-open spaces, its climate and
multiple communications
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Panoramic view of the University City
(below left).

National library
(below center).

Qlimpic swimming pool
(below right).

*  (Construction Manager, University City
(1950-1955).

opportunities all come together to
create what Alfonso X, the Wise,
recorded in the 13th century with
respect to the University of
Salamanca, “the villa where the
university shall be established should
enjoy clean air and handsome walks,
so that the teachers who expound and
the students who learn may live a
healthy life, relaxing and enjoying
themselves in the afternoon when they
rise weary from their endeavors.”

Both Mexican and foreign critics
and commentators praised the
coordination, quality, and low cost at
which the first stage of the campus
was built (1950-1952); they all agreed
that a record had been set in this type
of effort.

The University City’s
construction was approached as a
problem of integral planning on an
appropriate scale, starting from such
basics as physical, human, financial
and politico-administrative factors.
The goal was to build a real city with
all the characteristics and problems of
an urban complex enclosing an
agglomeration of human beings.

Mexico’s University City was not
just a change of locale, but a genuine
structural transformation of physical,
social, pedagogical, and moral
proportions. A transformation capable
of furthering the integration of
university life, of an authentic
community of professors and students
that, as it combined the humanism of
classical education with the dynamic
scientific knowledge of our age,
would influence not only future
university generations, but the
country’s destiny as well.

A distinguished nucleus of
Mexican scientists, technicians, and
specialists worked in close
coordination with the best assortment
of building contractors, all graduates
of the National University, who had
presented winning bids for their
contracts. More than 140 engineers,
architects, and specialists in different
areas, took part in this great enterprise.

Close to 10,000 laborers worked day
and night, Sundays and holidays for
28 months. All were imbued with a
spirit of noble emulation and healthy
competition. CU would not have
become a reality had it depended only
on technology. Its construction was
powered by faith and creative
mystique that overcame all obstacles
and difficulties.

The new University City campus
organization was established on April
1, 1950, at a time that was far from
promising. There was actually no
definitive overall project. Not even in
the last two years previous had the
architects in charge of partial projects
reached the point where the
construction of buildings could begin.
The only exception was the group
assigned to the Science Faculty and
Institutes.

The University City was a small
organization in terms of the number of
its members. The success of its labors
stemmed from planning, efficient
distribution of functions, and
individual and overall dedication.

The symbolic beginning of
construction on the first edifice took
place on June 5, 1950. Adolfo Ruiz
Cortines, then Secretary of the
Interior, represented President Miguel
Alemén, who was away from Mexico
City at the time. Ruiz Cortines stated
that the event was symbolic of the best
expression of Mexico’s will to
demonstrate combined effort by
people and government, both lovers of
culture, and he underlined that
Mexican university graduates were
part of the people.

The event held special emotional
importance, because an old dream that
had seemed unattainable was
becoming reality.

From that day on, the doors of
the University’s new home were
practically open. The move to its new
abode would leave a Colonial past
and two stages of its life behind:
its founding in 1910 and its autonomy
in 1929.
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Olympic Stadium “Mexico 68”.

Bordering on the San Angel
residential area to the north and the
Cuicuilco archaeological zone to the
south, Mexico’s University City was
built on both sides of the city’s longest
avenue, Avenida de los Insurgentes.

The academic and administrative
areas are located east of the avenue,
along with sports facilities. The great
botanical garden, including both
Mexican and foreign plants donated to
the University, and the spectator sports
installations are located on the west
side of the avenue.

The first stage was built on
approximately two million square
meters. It was planned to provide
classrooms for 30,000 students. In
1950, the National University of
Mexico enrolled 8,500 undergraduates.
The large area that remained at the end
of the first stage was reserved for
further growth. Today it is populated
by a total of 87,415 undergraduate and
graduate students.

CU represented a change of
attitude in Mexico’s way of doing
things. It was striking not only
architecturally but in the novelty
of its structural design. In order to
stay within a budget far below the
necessary for conventional concrete
construction, the stadium was built
of earthworks consolidated and
then covered with the lava rock
that abounds in the area. Lava
rock was used wherever it was
advisable and logical. New materials
were manufactured to replace
imported ones, and they later became
export products.

Mention must be made of the
exterior murals that cover large
surfaces, and the painted sculpture
on the stadium fagade (unfinished
since the death of its creator), and
other sculptures. The walls of the
Main Library were decorated with
multi-colored stones, specially
sent from diverse parts of the
country, which helped to create a
harmonious whole.

That November 20, anniversary of
the Mexican Revolution, was the date
chosen to inaugurate the campus was
not accidental. The idea of a new
university, alive in this setting, was
both product and legacy of the
Revolution, without which it would
never have taken shape.

A revolution is not only an armed
movement to subvert and transform a
given political and economic order. It
is, above all, a permanent longing for
human creativity, for peace and
justice, animated by an incomparable
and eternal mystical force.

Thus, Mexico’s political,
industrial, and spiritual revolutions
came together to round out their
symbolic significance, to make their
highest ideals a reality, and to shed
inextinguishable light on and give
voice to their initial aspirations.

November 20, 1950, marked the
beginning of a new cultural calendar.
It also created the need for a new life,
in thought, purpose, action and
conduct. Because having solved one
of the university’s fundamental
problems —that of its physical
space— would have solved nothing

had we not also been able to face a
much greater problem: its moral and
academic essence, its spiritual and
pedagogical structure. That was the
task inherent in the University that had
to be fulfilled so that it would always
be an enclosure of civilization and
culture upon which a better Mexico
could be built.

With lofty spirit and great
generosity, President Ruiz Cortines
furthered this great project, the pride
of all Mexicans, bastion of Latin
culture and wonder of visitors. That is
why, like Miguel Aleman before him,
Adolfo Ruiz Cortines deserves
Mexico’s and particularly her
university students’ and graduates’
unending acknowledgment and
gratitude, for quietly continuing the
overall plan and program for the
University City by investing the large
sums necessary to do so.

The National University began
operations on its new University City
campus for the 1954 school year.
Surely Mexico has never made such a
fruitful, beneficial and lasting
investment. It will maintain scholarly
tradition and infuse Mexico’s young
with those elements of faith,
intelligence, and culture that have so
far endured.

Forty years after the University
City’s inauguration, I offer my
memories and acknowledgements to
those who, on April 1, 1950, made
that new organization possible: Carlos
Novoa, President; Carlos Lazo,
General Manager, creator and director
of the new organization; Gustavo
Garcia Travesi, Planning and
Investment Manager; Almiro P. de
Moratinos, Public Relations Manager;
Enrique del Moral, in the Master
Project, and many others who, like
them, are no longer with us, and were
dear friends and colleagues all.
University rectors Luis Garrido and
Nabor Carrillo, and presidents of
Mexico Miguel Aleman and Adolfo
Ruiz Cortines earned an unforgettable
place all their own ¥




